IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001666  
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-08-2121

RECEIVED  
JUN 06 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

JUSTIN R. HILLERBY, #339543,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

**JEREMY A. THOMPSON**  
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC  
P.O. Box 1834  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 779-2555  
(803) 753-9732 FAX

**ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.**

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

**I.**

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to consult with a forensic pathologist and present the testimony of a forensic pathologist at trial inasmuch as such testimony would have shown that the Petitioner did not kill the victim?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, Justin R. Hillerby, was charged in Berkeley County for homicide by child abuse. On February 20-25, 2010, the Petitioner proceeded to trial on this charge. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire.<sup>1</sup> At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty as charged. The Honorable Kristi L. Harrington, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to life imprisonment.

The Petitioner timely appealed his conviction and sentence to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. He was represented on appeal by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. In an unpublished opinion, this Court affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Hillerby, 2013-UP-300 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 3, 2013). The Petitioner did not pursue a further appeal to the Supreme Court.

On September 19, 2013, the Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Berkeley County Clerk of Court. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on September 8, 2015, before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., presiding circuit judge. On January 21, 2016, the PCR court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all of the Petitioner's claims.

The Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend the Order of Dismissal on February 1, 2016. A hearing was convened on this motion on June 13, 2016, before Judge Hyman. On July 16, 2016, the PCR court filed an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend. The Petitioner served his Notice of Appeal from both of the PCR court's orders on August 9, 2016, and the Supreme Court received the notice on August 11, 2016.

---

<sup>1</sup> On February 2, 2016, the Supreme Court issued an order placing defense counsel on interim suspension. In re Bosnak, 415 S.C. 332, 782 S.E.2d 123 (2016).

The Petitioner filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the Supreme Court on January 30, 2017. The State served its Return on May 31, 2017. The Supreme Court subsequently transferred the appeal to this Court. By order filed February 6, 2019, this Court granted the certiorari petition in part. The Petitioner now submits this Brief in support of his argument that the PCR court improperly denied his Application for Post-Conviction Relief.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

In September 2008, the Petitioner lived with his girlfriend Jennifer in her home and with her two children: an eight-year-old daughter named Serena, and an almost two-year-old son (“the victim”). There were two other roommates who lived in Jennifer’s home: Brandi Mihill and Eric Riggins. The charge in this case arose out of Jennifer’s son’s death.

On September 14, 2008, the Petitioner, Jennifer, and Jennifer’s children went to the pool for several hours.<sup>2</sup> Jennifer testified that they returned to her home between 6:00 and 6:30 P.M., and that she went out after 7:00 P.M. with a friend named Jennifer Angel for several hours. App. p. 301, lines 2-21. When she returned, she woke up the Petitioner, who was sleeping on the couch. App. p. 302, line 22-p. 303, line 2. She checked on the victim’s baby monitor but did not go into his room. App. p. 303, lines 2-13. After checking on the victim’s baby monitor, she got into an argument with Brandi and Eric and then went to bed. App. p. 303, lines 14-18.

At approximately 10:00 A.M. the following morning, Jennifer checked on the victim for the first time. She found that he was cold and stiff and that there was blood on his nose and on his crib mattress. App. p. 304, line 3-p. 305, line 25. The Petitioner then called 9-1-1. App. p. 306, lines 8-22.

Dr. Nicholas Batalis conducted the autopsy of the victim on September 16, 2008. He concluded that the victim died of blunt force trauma to his head. App. p. 523, lines 20-25. Specifically, he testified that the victim had at least nine specific points of impact to his head that caused hemorrhaging, in addition to several other bruises to his face. App. p. 524, line 14-p. 525,

---

<sup>2</sup> The State presented testimony from several witnesses that the Petitioner yelled at and berated the victim while at the pool, and that neither the Petitioner nor Jennifer were paying attention to the victim at the pool. As a result, the victim fell into the pool repeatedly. See generally App. p. 230, line 6-p. 232, line 25; p. 238, line 6-p. 239, line 19. These actions did not cause the victim’s death; however, they did result in a charge of unlawful neglect of a child against Jennifer.

line 8. Dr. Batalis further testified that the injuries could have been caused by “a book, ... a fist ... or, alternatively, the child could have been pushed against something that the head could have struck against a doorway, a desk, many different ways.” App. p. 525, lines 16-20. The victim also had numerous markings over his entire body, but Dr. Batalis testified that these markings were not bruises but were likely caused by placing the victim’s body in a cooler or due to the victim’s eczema. App. p. 556, line 3-p. 558, line 8. Finally, Dr. Batalis testified that the victim died between two to twelve hours prior to the time when he was found. App. p. 523, lines 2-16.

The Petitioner gave varying accounts of his actions the night of the victim’s death. Initially, while at the scene, the Petitioner told the authorities that he noticed a bruise on the victim’s face after they left the pool and that the victim acted drowsy that evening, but he did not admit to striking the victim. App. p. 472, lines 4-14. Two days later, on September 17, 2008, the Petitioner told police that he struck the victim’s head with his knee by accident and that he may have also accidentally “clipped his head on the way to his crib and maybe again on his crib.” App. p. 478, line 22-p. 479, line 2. After he gave this second statement, the Petitioner was arrested for homicide by child abuse. App. 483, lines 14-20. The following day, after his bond hearing, the Petitioner gave a third statement where he admitted to striking the victim openhanded twice, with one of the blows knocking the victim to the floor. App. p. 484, lines 6-13; p. 490, lines 4-13. In a recorded jail phone call the Petitioner made to Jennifer on September 26, 2008, the Petitioner told Jennifer

Baby, I smacked him, I didn’t smack him that hard, but when he hit the floor is when, I guess, it started. And, I didn’t notice it because I was drunk, I guess. And, I put him on the futon.

App. p. 1136, lines 2-6. At trial, the Petitioner testified that he did accidentally hit the victim's head with his leg.<sup>3</sup> App. p. 635, line 25-p. 637, line 15. The Petitioner denied hurting the victim. App. p. 672, lines 4-24.

There was little to no forensic evidence recovered at Jennifer's home. However, of note, a paint roller handle was recovered from the floor in front of the victim's crib. App. p. 364, line 23-p. 365, line 14. The paint roller handle was tested for the presence of blood, but the test was negative. App. p. 412, line 4-p. 414, line 21. The paint roller handle was not tested for the presence of any other DNA. App. p. 424, lines 8-18.

The Petitioner's testimony was the focal point of the defense, as the only other witnesses that were called by the defense were John Williams, the Petitioner's stepfather and Roy Shoup, a friend of the Petitioner. The Petitioner's stepfather testified that the Petitioner was in off-and-on-again relationships with Jennifer and Melissa Georgoulis, who is the mother of the Petitioner's children. App. p. 606, line 18-p. 607, line 23. Shoup testified that he was present at the pool until approximately 3:15 P.M. and that the Petitioner appeared to be in a good mood that afternoon. App. p. 594, line 3-p. 595, line 6.

---

<sup>3</sup> The Petitioner also gave another version of events during the PCR hearing. During that hearing, the Petitioner testified that the testimony he had given at the trial was false in part in that he did not strike the victim in any way the night of the victim's death. The Petitioner further testified that defense counsel convinced him to admit to striking the victim with his knee so his testimony would match at least one of the statements that he gave to police.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective to investigate and present the testimony of a forensic pathologist inasmuch as the testimony of such an expert would have shown that the Petitioner did not kill the victim.**

#### A. How the Issue Arose Below

As noted above, Dr. Batalis, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy of the victim, testified at trial that the victim died as a result of repeated blunt force trauma to his head and that these injuries could have been caused by a large object or a fist. App. p. 525, lines 16-20. He also testified that the additional markings all over the victim's body were not bruises but resulted either from placing the victim's body in a cooler or due to the victim's eczema. App. p. 556, line 3-p. 558, line 8. Dr. Batalis conducted the autopsy on September 16, 2008. App. p. 521, lines 23-25. He was board certified in forensic pathology on September 4, 2008, which was only twelve days prior to date of the autopsy. App. p. 1105.

In the Petitioner's Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief, he argued that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with a forensic pathologist prior to trial and for failing to investigate a defense that someone other than the Petitioner killed the victim. App. p. 962. In support of this allegation, the Petitioner presented the testimony of Dr. Michael Baden, a renowned forensic pathologist.<sup>4</sup> Dr. Baden's ultimate conclusion was that the victim was not killed by an adult, but rather by a child:

[I]t is not likely that any adult caused the death of the child and, in my opinion, and my experience, it is typical for a sibling or for another child to injure a child in this fashion and it is not at all the pattern of injuries that I have seen in 50 years caused by an adult.

---

<sup>4</sup> Dr. Baden is the former chief medical examiner for New York City and has held many prestigious posts, including appointment as Chairman of the Forensic Pathology Panel of the U.S. Congress Select Committee on Assassinations, which reinvestigated the deaths of President John F. Kennedy and Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., in the 1970s. He has conducted over 20,000 autopsies. See App. pp. 1078-1101.

App. p. 999, lines 19-24. Dr. Baden reached this conclusion because it was his opinion that the victim's injuries were caused by a narrow object that struck the victim more than fifty times, instead of being caused by the striking of a fist or of a large object. App. p. 977, line 12-p. 978, line 6. He further testified that these injuries were most consistent with an older child striking the victim repeatedly, "based on hundreds of child abuse cases I've investigated." App. p. 978, lines 11-14. Serena, the victim's older sister, was also present in the home with the Petitioner and the victim the night the victim suffered his injuries. Dr. Baden also testified that a paint roller handle found near the victim's crib would have been the type of object that could have caused those injuries, and that he felt that Dr. Batalis should have compared the paint roller handle to the victim's injuries. App. p. 996, line 8-p. 997, line 15. Moreover, Dr. Baden testified that the injuries to the victim were inconsistent with any of the various methods of striking the victim given by the Petitioner in his statements and in his testimony at trial. Specifically, Dr. Baden testified that the injuries to the victim were not caused by any of the following: (1) an open strike with a palm; (2) a fist; (3) a blow from a large object such as a door; or (4) a strike by an adult's knee. App. p. 1007, lines 2-15. Finally, Dr. Baden testified that Dr. Batalis' was incorrect to conclude that the markings on the victim's body were caused by settling in a cooler, as such markings would be much larger and would not result in "local circular bruises." App. p. 998, line 23-p. 999, line 7.

Both the Petitioner and his mother Vicki Williams testified that they believed that defense counsel was going to retain a medical expert to challenge Dr. Batalis' conclusions, and that they thought this would be an essential aspect of the Petitioner's defense at trial. App. p. 1031, line 17-p. 1032, line 10 (Petitioner); p. 1044, line 18-p. 1045, line 20 (Williams). Defense counsel testified that he did not consult with a forensic pathologist prior to trial. App. p. 1067, lines 17-20. He further testified that he consulted with a pediatrician, Dr. Betsy Gibbs, who told him that she

believed that the markings on the victim's body were bruises, but that she believed that the Petitioner caused the bruising. App. p. 1054, line 20-p. 1056, line 11. Defense counsel testified that he was convinced after he heard the Petitioner's recorded phone call with Jennifer that the Petitioner would be convicted if he proceeded to trial. App. p. 1062, line 17-p. 1063, line 12.

The PCR court denied relief on the Petitioner's allegations, concluding that Dr. Baden's "account of the events of victim's death [was] not credible considering the evidence in the case." App. p. 1165. The PCR court then detailed Dr. Batalis' findings before stating that Dr. Baden's findings were "simply not plausible based on the evidence" for the following reasons:

First, Dr. Baden never performed an autopsy on the victim. He only relied on pictures and accounts from others, years after the autopsy was performed. Second, while Dr. Baden agreed with Dr. Batalis that the cause of death was blunt force trauma to the head, Dr. Baden insisted that all of these injuries were caused by poking an object by a child. This is simply not plausible based on the evidence in the case. There were nine separate injuries to the victim's head and neck area, which ultimately led to victim's death. This Court does not find the "bruising" found on the victim's body to contribute to his death whatsoever. Third, Dr. Baden opined that these bruises were caused by a small, blunt object such as the paint roller handle seen in one photograph offered in evidence. This Court finds this part of Dr. Baden's opinion to be based on complete speculation, as no DNA testing was completed on the paint roller, and there were no witnesses that the paint roller was ever used in the child's death. Fourth, while Applicant claims Dr. Baden testified the victim's death could not have occurred within the two hours, "as testified to by Dr. Batalis," a review of the record shows Dr. Batalis actually testified that it could have been twelve hours before victim's body was found. Based on the aforementioned, this Court finds counsel was not ineffective for not retaining or calling a forensic expert, such as Dr. Baden, in this case because this Court does not find that victim's death could have been caused by anything other than the blunt force trauma to the head, which both experts agreed upon.

App. pp. 1166. The PCR court also found that the Petitioner could not demonstrate prejudice because Dr. Baden's testimony only "alluded to the conclusion that these injuries were caused by a small child, not an adult" and "Applicant presented no evidence whatsoever at the PCR hearing

that anyone other than Applicant injured the child.” App. p. 1167. The PCR court further concluded that the Applicant’s failure “to produce any witnesses, namely Serena, which tended to show that anyone other than Applicant caused victim’s death” required dismissal of his claim. App. p. 1167. The Petitioner now claims that these findings are manifestly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

#### B. Standard of Review

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee every criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the moving party must show that defense counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. Id. In other words, the petitioning party must show that but for counsel’s errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. Id.

On appeal, a PCR court’s factual findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value supporting them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 155, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A PCR court’s legal findings are afforded no deference and questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-840 (2018). “The appellate court will reverse the PCR court only where there is either no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

### C. Discussion

As with any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the Petitioner must meet both prongs of Strickland in order to be entitled to relief: deficient performance by defense counsel and prejudice resulting from that deficient performance. The Petitioner will address each prong in turn.

#### *1. Defense Counsel's Performance Was Deficient*

As a general rule, “counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Strickland, *supra*, 446 U.S. at 691. Both this Court and the Supreme Court have recognized that the failure to investigate and to present favorable expert witness testimony at trial constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. See McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 661 S.E.2d 354 (2008); Reeves v. State, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (Ct. App. 2015).

Initially, the Petitioner would note that the PCR court did not discuss Strickland's performance prong in great detail in its order. Instead, the PCR court's findings appear to concentrate largely on Strickland's prejudice prong because the PCR court's focus was on Dr. Baden's findings and whether or not they would have benefited the defense at trial.<sup>5</sup> The PCR court's findings do not include any discussion of defense counsel's performance prior to or during trial, nor do they address the sufficiency or insufficiency of defense counsel's efforts to challenge the forensic evidence that the State intended to offer at trial. Nevertheless, the Petitioner submits that the PCR court's findings on the performance prong, such as they are, are unsupported by any probative evidence.

---

<sup>5</sup> The Petitioner would note that the PCR court appeared to conflate the terms “deficient” and “ineffective” in its order. See App. p. 1166 (“[E]ven assuming *arguendo*, that this Court found counsel was ineffective for not retaining or calling at trial a forensic expert to refute the State's case, Applicant prove no resulting prejudice in this case.”)

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