ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to Berkeley County
Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-001666

RECEIVED
OCT 10 2019
SC Court of Appeals

JUSTIN RYAN HILLERBY,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to Berkeley County
Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

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

the PCR judge committed no error whatsoever by concluding trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to consult with or present the testimony of a forensic pathologist, and his conclusion in that regard was fully supported by both the evidence contained in the trial record and the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing. Critically, that evidence established trial counsel thoroughly investigated Petitioner's case and prepared for Petitioner's trial, including by consulting with a qualified medical expert to obtain an independent opinion as to the cause of Victim's death. Likewise, it established trial counsel pursued a reasonable trial strategy to attack the State's medical evidence regarding Victim's death through pointed cross-examination as opposed to the presentation of expert testimony. Furthermore, it established even Dr. Baden agreed Victim died as a result of blunt force trauma from injuries that absolutely could have been inflicted by an adult, which meant Dr. Baden's testimony would not have in any way established Petitioner could not and did not inflict Victim's fatal injuries. Under those circumstances, the substantial evidence before the PCR judge supported a conclusion trial counsel was not deficient for failing to consult with and present the testimony of a forensic pathologist like Dr. Baden and there was no reasonable probability the result of Petitioner's trial would have been different even if he had done so. As a result, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of overcoming the strong presumption trial counsel provided adequate representation to him, and the PCR judge correctly determined with evidentiary support trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective. The PCR judge's ruling rejecting Petitioner's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim should be affirmed.

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) ("The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the

United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial[.]”). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14 (1970); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984) (“An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.”). Significantly, effective assistance of counsel does not mean perfect representation. See Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered to be constitutionally ineffective when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant raising an ineffective assistance of counsel claim must establish: (1) counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; *and* (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); see Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 380, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (instructing “the law requires [a reviewing court to] presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment” and only find to the contrary when

the applicant has overcome that presumption by establishing both deficiency and prejudice); see also United States v. Balzano, 916 F.2d 1273, 1292 (7th Cir. 1990) (characterizing the required showing a defendant must make in order to successfully establish an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as a “high mountain a defendant must climb”).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); see Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (instructing the proper analysis “calls for an inquiry into the *objective* reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind” (emphasis added)). When analyzing counsel’s performance, the reviewing court will strongly presume counsel provided adequate assistance, and the applicant is responsible for overcoming that presumption. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; see Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (explaining a defendant must show defense counsel failed to act reasonably considering all the circumstances in order to overcome the presumption of adequate representation). Furthermore, the reviewing court will scrutinize counsel’s performance in a highly deferential manner, will make every effort “to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight,” and will “evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time” in light of the then-existing circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. In order to establish counsel’s performance was deficient, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 687. Thus, counsel’s performance will be considered to be deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and *not* when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Richter, 562 U.S. at

105; see also State v. Woullard, 813 N.E.2d 964, 971 (Ohio Ct. App. 2004) (“Defense counsel’s strategy must have been outside the realm of legitimate trial strategy so as ‘to make ordinary counsel scoff’ before a conviction will be reversed on the basis of ineffective assistance.” (citations omitted)).

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. In order for that burden to be met, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989); see Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (“To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a PCR applicant has the burden of proving counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different.”). Importantly, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112 (emphasis added); see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”).

In the case sub judice, Petitioner—based on the evidence presented during both his trial and the subsequent evidentiary hearing—failed to meet his burden of establishing trial counsel’s representation objectively fell below the prevailing standard of professional norms by not consulting with or presenting the testimony of a forensic pathologist. Likewise, Petitioner further failed to meet his heavy burden of establishing there was a reasonable probability the

result of his trial would have been different had trial counsel consulted with or presented the testimony of an expert like Dr. Baden.

Initially, as to Petitioner's failure to establish deficiency, he failed to do so because the evidence presented showed trial counsel recognized the need for independent investigation into Victim's cause of death *and* reasonably conducted such an investigation. Specifically, in preparing Petitioner's defense to a homicide by child abuse charge, trial counsel consulted with an expert pediatrician who specialized in *child abuse*, and that expert explained the medical evidence to him while also confirming she believed the evidence supported a conclusion Petitioner was actually guilty as charged. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-691 (“[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.”). Thus, although trial counsel did not specifically consult with a forensic pathologist, he reasonably investigated the medical evidence and obtained an independent child abuse expert's opinion, which suggested the only possible flaw with the conclusions of the doctor who conducted Victim's autopsy related to collateral marks or bruises that were distinct from the injuries that actually caused Victim's death. See Pinholster, 563 U.S. at 195-196 (explaining trial counsel is entitled to constitutionally-protected independence and wide latitude in making tactical decisions and instructing there will rarely be just one technique or approach that would be considered constitutionally reasonable for trial counsel to undertake in representing a defendant); see also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 (recognizing investigatory decisions must be assessed with “a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments”). In light of the results of his consultation with a relevant expert coupled with the fact his client

repeatedly made incriminating admissions about striking Victim in several of the statements he made after Victim was brutally killed, trial counsel decided not to conduct any further investigation into the medical evidence, and that decision was not an objectively unreasonable one as would be necessary to support a finding of deficiency.³³ See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 (“The reasonableness of counsel’s actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions.”); see also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (“Where . . . counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.”); Tate v. State, 308 S.C. 163, 166, 417 S.E.2d 553, 555 (1992) (“Where a defendant’s own testimony establishes the inapplicability of a defense, failure of counsel to secure expert testimony regarding that defense does not constitute ineffective assistance.”).

Likewise, trial counsel provided effective representation to Petitioner by challenging the State’s medical evidence related to Victim’s death through extensive cross-examination of Dr. Batalis during trial.³⁴ See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-689 (recognizing there typically exists a “range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant” and instructing defense counsel must have “wide latitude” in making tactical decisions); see also Richter, 562 U.S. at 111 (“[I]t is difficult to establish ineffective assistance when counsel’s overall performance indicates active and capable advocacy.”). Critically, through that cross-examination, trial counsel elicited testimony from Dr. Batalis explaining a mere slap could *not*

³³ As to why he did not believe the information he obtained from his expert warranted further investigation into the medical evidence, trial counsel aptly noted: “[W]e knew that the child had been killed by blunt -- blunt trauma of some type to the head. A bruise on the leg that could have been at a swimming pool or a child playing in the house, fell down, how is that going to show that [Petitioner] is not guilty of anything?” (App’x pp. 1074-1075).

³⁴ Notably, trial counsel thoroughly questioned Dr. Batalis through both cross-examination and re-cross-examination. (App’x pp. 543-555; pp. 563-565).

have caused Victim's fatal injuries, and the expert further acknowledged during trial counsel's questioning there were countless possibilities as to how Victim's injuries could have been inflicted.³⁵ See Richter, 562 U.S. at 111 ("In many instances cross-examination will be sufficient to expose defects in an expert's presentation. When defense counsel does not have a solid case, the best strategy can be to say that there is too much doubt about the State's theory for a jury to convict."). Since he was able to effectively attack the State's medical evidence through cross-examination, trial counsel's decision not to present an expert forensic pathologist of his own could not be fairly characterized as objectively unreasonable or incompetent under the circumstances. See Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008) ("[C]ounsel's failure to procure expert witnesses did not render her representation deficient given she vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence."), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018); see also Richter, 562 U.S. at 111 ("Strickland does not enact Newton's third law for the presentation of evidence, requiring for every prosecution expert an equal and opposite expert from the defense."); cf. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 370, 610 S.E.2d 812, 815 (2005) (concluding trial counsel's decision not to present an expert witness to rebut the testimony of the State's expert witness constituted a legitimate trial strategy under the circumstances and reversing a ruling reaching a contrary conclusion), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018); Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-161, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) ("Petitioner . . . argues that trial counsel was deficient in failing to procure an

³⁵ Significantly, since trial counsel was able to elicit testimony through Dr. Batalis establishing an openhanded slap—which was the manner in which Petitioner claimed at various points to have struck Victim—could not have caused Victim's injuries, the substance of much of the key testimony Petitioner claims Dr. Baden was needed to elicit was, in fact, elicited without him. (App. Br. p. 17).

expert witness to challenge the DNA evidence presented at trial. We disagree. The record reveals that trial counsel vigorously cross-examined the state's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence. We cannot say that his performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms.”).

Furthermore, beyond the inherent reasonableness of trial counsel's actions under the circumstances, Dr. Baden's testimony—just as the PCR judge concluded—was not sufficiently compelling or plausible to render trial counsel's performance unreasonable.³⁶ Looking to that testimony, Dr. Baden, who only conducted a limited review in Petitioner's case, largely substantiated the critical conclusions of Dr. Batalis by confirming Victim died as the result of blunt force trauma injuries that caused fatal hemorrhaging in Victim's brain and were inflicted as many as twelve hours before the baby's body was found. See, e.g., State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (recognizing as “well settled” evidence being cumulative in nature to other evidence can render issues related to that evidence harmless beyond a reasonable doubt). Likewise, after seemingly attempting to suggest something to the contrary, Dr. Baden directly confirmed Victim's injuries could have, in fact, been inflicted by an adult,

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